Editorial:
TORTURE MUSEUM

In Kashmir torture figures at the top in the human rights violations. Unfortunately, it has been least highlighted. Politicians are parroting on the killing of 80,000 people, enforced disappearances, custodial killings, extra judicial executions, but as far torture is concerned it has not even being highlighted by the human rights organizations. Torture is systematic, institutional, massive, permanent and universal in Jammu and Kashmir. Not during the ongoing conflict but pre-conflict and pre-1947 era, the torture has a long history. It was unleashed during Afghan Sikh rulers and during feudal Maharaja regime subject were fleeced alive. Still in the Kashmiri folk stories torture has become a part of our history. The elder generation are still talking about the torture inflicted by Sheikh Abdullah’s authoritarian regime in 1947 on political dissidents followed by Bakshi after 1953, when police official like Sheikh Ghulam Qadir alias Ganderbali achieved notoriety for inflicting torture on the political activists who were opposing the illegal deposition of Sheikh Abdullah and asking for plebiscite. After Ganderbali the infamous police official SP Watali used torture on the political dissidents. Even some of his victims who finally ended up in becoming the part of bureaucracy after holding important positions like one Director Tourism who was rendered impotent due to torture accepted it. But never there has been any systematic campaign against the torture in Kashmir. It was never made an issue it was accepted and its acceptance has become a part of Kashmir’s culture. However, survivors have to live throughout their life with pain and agony. 

But after 1989, the torture was institutionalize by the army, SOG, police and intelligence agencies. According to rough estimate there are more than one hundred thousand torture victims in Kashmir valley. The victims who are been physically tortured and the majority are of non-combatant Kashmiris including young, old, women and students. The torture has been inflicted in the notorious interrogation centres, army camps (nevertheless army has no powers to interrogate even under AFSPA) in police stations, on highways during search and cordon operations where the suspected inmates in their own residential houses were tortured. Some times in the presence of their close relatives detained in the other rooms particularly children leaving morbid imprints on their memory. There are cases where the detainees were hanged upside down till they die. A retired police official revealed to the Editor that cops after evening drinks used to forget these victims only to learn next day that the victims hanged by rope upside down have already died. People forced to walk on the snow for hours till they developed the frost-bite, which resulted into amputation of their feet. Polythene bags burnt on abdomen of detainees, roller trampled which has become a household name in Kashmir. Detainees sexually abused, women, wives, mothers raped in presence of others. The electrical shocks which is most common on genitals of detainees rendering them sexually dysfunctional throughout their life. “A black rumor in early 90s’ when there was scarcity of electricity, why there is no electricity? Because it was used in torture chambers”. Moreover, the chilly powder insertion in their private parts remains a common practice during torture. There are cases where the rods or sticks were inserted into the rectum of torture victims like Muzaffar Shah and Manzoor Ahmad Naikoo of Pattan.

Besides physical torture, if we study the mental torture it is manifold. The new generation in Kashmir after 1989 has brought up in the environment where the torture has been used as a weapon of war by the state. Torture is nowhere discussed or known to the world outside. It was due to the American media and whistle blowers in the army, which highlighted the torture modes in Guantanamo Bay and Abu Ghraib or My Lai massacre in Vietnam, which shocked the international conscience and caused embarrassment to the US administration compelling it to hold investigation and punish the perpetrators. But as far as Kashmir is concern due to the political exigencies the international and Indian media has ignored the torture. But it is primary the failure of the civil society in the state which has failed to make it an international issue. 

Torture according to Amnesty International is not inflicted to extract information or punish the victim but to disconnect people socially and politically and to prevent the political and social formations. That is precisely the main objective behind the torture. In Kashmir where the perpetrators are enjoying legal, political and moral impunity are inflicting torture to achieve the political designs even made public in the Doctrine for Sub Convention Operations to transforming the will and attitude of the people, which clearly implies breaking the will of the people. As famous saying goes there is nothing wrong in our stars but in ourselves, it is the civil society to ponder how to highlight the issue nationally, regionally and internationally. Systematic torture is a crime against humanity and after the Convention on torture, which has even signed by the Indian government; it is the responsibility of international community to question the phenomenon of torture in Kashmir. But it is unlikely unless there is not the campaign from the base. People outside have better things to do. Still people outside don’t know where the Kashmir is. An old lady in Geneva when asked by the Editor during a dinner where Kashmir is located, she replied is it somewhere near Somalia. We are not aware how many torture cases have been sent to the UN Working Group on Torture. Maximum numbers of cases need to be send to the UN especially to the Working Group on Torture (knowingly it has no force) but it will morally embarrass the largest formal democracy of the world. We will not allow past to be forgotten, we should not allow it to happen to our future generation i.e. only when the crime is documented widespread, made public, oral and written history like other nations where they have remember their past by different methods. The Jammu and Kashmir Coalition of Civil Society has decided to emphasize on torture this year. To document maximum number of cases, prepare booklets, and testimonials and also to build a Torture Museum where people can get familiarize with brutal modes of torture people have been subjected to. 

Torture has to be made a common phrase in order to know the perpetrators that they cannot get away with their heinous acts and when we have a strong documentation of international standard even the media not eager to report it shall be forced not to ignore it. There are different ways, means and strategies needed otherwise we shall be absolving and encouraging these perpetrators and also there would be perpetrators who always derives strength from their predecessors who escape the accountability. Besides that highlighting the issue it will expose the contradiction of the state. It is necessary to do so otherwise it shall be repeated and we will be in dock of the history.    

EXCERPTS OF INTERVIEW WITH ZAHOOR AHMAD MIR OF NISHAT, SRINAGAR

His father was abducted and killed by notorious government gunman Papa Kashtiwari
Q. Can you give a brief account of your father’s abduction and killing?

A.  On June 26, 1996, my father (Mohammad Rajab Mir) left home at 10.30 in the morning to bring medicine for his ailing father and did not return. We first thought that he might have gone to visit any of his relatives. Next day we enquired from all the relatives; but all of them were unaware about him. This compelled us to file a missing report in police station, Nishat. On third day there was a rumour that notorious killer, Papa Kahstiwari, had abducted him. On approaching him he denied about the abduction. After a week Papa Kashtiwari gave us a message that my father was detained in Police Station Ganderbal. On reaching there the information proved wrong. We saw a dead body of a 25-year old person, which police had fished out from river Jehlum. According to medical reports the very dead body had been in water for twelve days but by then my father was 47 years old and had been missing for last seven days. It confirmed that the dead body was not of my father. The incident made us suspicious about Papa Kashtiwari who had deliberately given us the information, as he had thought that the dead body would be of my father, whom he had killed and later thrown into Jehlum River.

   
Eventually Papa confessed my father’s abduction and demanded rupees 3 lakh for his release. I somehow arranged rupees 1.5 lakhs and gave it to him in three installments (fifty, forty, and sixty thousands respectively). But he continuously misled me for three years and did not release my father. In 1999 he again demanded rupees 20 thousand and assured his release within three days. I arranged ten thousand rupees after selling my cow but still he did not release him. After that I met Papa again where one of his companions told me that it is futile to search him. He said that Papa killed my father in 1996 immediately after his abduction.

Q. What was the role of police in tracing your father’s whereabouts?

A.  Police did not show any interest in searching my father. They directly denied any help to me in this regard as police itself was afraid of Papa Kashtiwari.  Papa had killed hundreds of innocent people with the connivance and cover of both police and state government. Police did not even lodge FIR against the culprit. Even when I applied for ex-gratia relief in the DC office Srinagar, police despite having full knowledge of killing of my father did not give me his death report that was pre-requisite for the sanction of relief. They several times demanded money for issuance of the report, which I refused to pay. Police, only after the court orders in 2007, lodged FIR and showed some interest in the case.  

Q. You first applied for ex- gratia relief. Now you are after punishment of Papa Kashtiwari. How did you change you idea? 

A. The continuous misguiding of police and Papa Kashtiwari changed my mind and forced me to go to court to seek justice.

Q How did you approach court?

A. After constant ten-year struggle I finally approached Association Of Parents Of Disappeared Persons (APDP). APDP helped me in filing the case against Papa Kashtiwari in High Court. It was only after Court orders that police started investigating the case. Court also sought explanation from police for not lodging FIR against Papa Kashtiwari till that date. It was only after Pampore revolt and court orders that Papa was arrested and booked under 364, 343, 120-A and 302 RPC. I now with the help of APDP not only pursue my own case but the cases of other 23 slain persons who were also killed by Papa Kashtiwari at Pampore. Saffron Growers Association of Pampore provided me the list.

Q. What role APDP has played in pursuing your case?

A. APDP has provided the platform to all the relatives of the disappeared persons of the Valley to collectively fight against the system to seek justice and to know the whereabouts of their dear ones. The demonstrations and processions of APDP have made our cases public. These demonstrations also put pressure on police and state to investigate our cases. There are other perpetrators responsible for the disappearance of hundreds of Kashmiris. I think all the victim families of disappearance should also approach APDP  so that other perpetrators could be identified and a state wide campaign be launched against them to expose and punish them.

Q Did any political leader help you in this regard?

 A. If Papa has done all these crimes under the political cover, how can I expect any help from them? It is only political parties, which tamed and nourished the criminals like Papa Kashtiwari and every time shielded their crimes. I once approached, PDP patron Mufti Sayeed, when he was chief minister of state to discuss the case with him. But I was shocked when he told me that the killing was done during National Conference regime and I should seek justice from them.

Q.  Do you feel insecure in pursuing case against such criminal?

 A. Every time, insecurity looms around me because several accomplices of Papa Kashtiwari are still roaming freely who can kill me any time. I am also afraid of his wife, who is municipal counselor having unlimited political connections, sufficient enough to wipe me off from the scene anytime with little efforts. She several times threatened me and asked me to withdraw from the case. But I have pledged that in any situation I will not budge even a single inch in retreat from the case. Even if Papa is punished I still will be under threat till his wife is alive.

Q Government has provided you security, but do you still feel insecurity?

A. There are hundreds of men who would work under Papa Kashtiwari, who strut freely, who anytime are expected to do anything with my family and me. Government has provided one SPO as a security guard to my family and me. Do you think one SPO can combat hundred men at a single time?

Q. Does your family supports you in pursuing the case?
A. Initially they showed some interest in case, as they were sanguine about it. But as the case started getting complicated their optimism got faded into pessimism. Now neither they have any interest in it nor do they support me for it because of two reasons- first: their hope of getting any justice has been vanished, second: they are scared of being harmed by Papa Kashtiwari’s goons.  Due to constant twelve-year involvement in the case I could not pay proper heed towards several family affairs, which turned my mother and my younger brother indifferent towards me as well as the case.

Q What is the effect of the whole incident on your family?

A. My family suffered a lot both financially and psychologically during these years. My grand father died only after six months of my father’s abduction. My sister had to quit her studies only in tenth standard because of insecurity. I am not able to give proper attention towards my family and towards the education of my children due to constant involvement in pursuing the case. In order to bribe Papa Kashtiwari, I took loans from State bank and Jammu and Kashmir Bank after mortgaging my lone shop, which still I have not repaid.

Q. What are you now really after now?

A. My demand is that Papa Kashtiwari, who is involved in hundreds of killings in Kashmir, be hanged to death and his associates be arrested and punished for the crimes they have committed.    

SISTER IN SEARCH OF HER DISAPPEARED BROTHER

Haseena (35), wife of Abdul Karim Bhat of Ganshibal, Nunwanan Pahalgam visited office of The Informative Missive while searching her brother. Her brother, Manzoor Ahmad Bhat (25), son of Ghulam Hassan Bhat of Ganshibal, Nunwanan, Pahalgam, district Anantnag, got disappeared in the year 2000 nearly in the second quarter of the year (approx march) and since then his whereabouts are not known. However, the disappearance of the persons was neither reported in the media nor in any police station. 
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Haseena, while narrating about her brother’s disappearance stated, “Manzoor left his house at around 10 a m to visit his aunt’s house at Arwen Kharpora, Bejbehara. He had stayed at the aunt’s house for two nights. On the third day he left the house and had told them that he would go back to his house. He had left around 11am and since then his whereabouts are not known. We were unaware that he has gone missing from aunt’s house. It was the eighth day since he had left his house. When he did not come back we got worried and my father went to see him in the aunt’s house at Kharpora and came to know that he had gone missing.  My aunt told my father that Manzoor left back after spending two nights at her house.” 

She added, “After we came to know that he went missing we searched both in the Kharpora and as well as in our own village, Ganshibal but found nothing. My father is ailing and walks with the help of a stick, he went to aunt’s housewith difficulty. Because of his fragility he could not manage to move hither and thither in order to ascertain Manzoor’s whereabouts. I had three brothers and two sisters and among us Manzoor was the youngest. All of us are married but Manzoor alone was unmarried. My two elder brothers, Mohammad Maqbool and Abdul Rehman did not take much interest to trace the whereabouts of Manzoor. They might have considered it unnecessary to locate him because of his property share.”  

She further stated, “After a month of his disappearance, people started to cast aspersions on him by saying that he is associated with militancy and was seen here and there. But my father tried to know the truth of rumors but all proved false and we did not find him anywhere. My father could not approach police because of poor health and my brothers did not approach police for their mean interests. Then I thought I should search my brother but simultaneously, I thought if something would happen to me then people would malign me and my in-laws would scold me. So I had some limitations for which I could not search my brother properly. But the quest to ascertain the whereabouts of my brother did not end and I am very much restless to see my brother alive.”  

“My brother in his early age was a labourter and was assisting the family needs and later after he saved some amount out of his earning, he purchased an auto rickshaw and was running that in Islamabad. He was not remotely involved with militancy or any agency. People were been arrested in the area but Manzoor was never detained or entangled in any such activity. I don’t understand who picked him up and why? I can never forget my brother; I will search him till I will get mystery of his disappearance unraveled”, said Haseena.

“Apart from my crooked bothers, my father could have searched him but after one year of Manzoor’s disappearance, he lost his eyesight and since then walks with the help of a stick.  He is in his late 80’s and it is very difficult for him to move out from the house. My two brothers got themselves separated before Manzoors disappearance. It was the Manzoor who was assisting the ailing parents and all the responsibilities were lying on him. From time Manzoor got disappear my parents are living alone in their old dwelling at Ganchibal. There remained no source of income for them. Then I approached some authorities who agreed to provide old age fund to my father, which is 500 or sometimes 1000. In addition to this my father is given charity in the village out of which he sustains his miserable days along with his wife, Fata (70). Manzoor was younger than me and that is why I was very much attached to him emotionally. I will do whatever is possible for me to locate my brother. I was suggested by an activist of social organization to approach PCHR (Public Commission on Human) just to get the matter of my brother’s disappearance highlighted”, concluded Haseena.  

LETTER TO THE EDITOR FROM A HUMAN RIGHTS ACTIVIST LANGUISHING IN TIHAR JAIL
Human rights activist, Mohammad Ahsan Untoo, 48, S/o Late Ghulam Hassan Untoo resident of Dewar, Anderbugh, Lolab, nearly 110 kms from Srinagar in the north district Kupwara was arrested in the month of February 2004 from Delhi after he had gone to attend a Human Rights Conference there. The Delhi Police Special Cell (DPSC) arrested Ahsan from a hotel where he was staying. The Delhi police charged him for sharing official secrets and other information with Pakistan embassy. DPSC also claimed to have held some consignment from him, which according to his family is baseless.

Ahsan is presently imprisoned in Tihar Jail No.-07, where from he wrote a letter to the editor of The Informative Missive, to make him aware about his plight in the detention and legal proceedings relating to his case.

Dear Parvez Imroz, 

Asalamualaikum
I intend to write this letter only to narrate you the ordeal that I have been undergoing in jail. I know how much humiliating it is for me to languish here. The much aching and painful thing here is not that I don’t get proper food, but the jail authorities have deliberately kept me with the criminals booked under section PC/377, 376, for the crime of having incestuous relationship with their own daughters. You as a human being can imagine, what could be the state of thinking of jail authorities towards these persons who are detained for such condemnable crimes. Just imagine what will be the effect of being within the company of such criminals. Instead of getting refined I may get inclined towards falsehood, treachery, betrayal, and perfidy. I was detained in other jails as well but there we got better things to learn. But in Tihar, detainees only get criminal training. Anyway due to the dearth of time I can’t write more but I will meet you during court session in Srinagar and there I will let you know about my plight. I know if you take some interest in my case I would get released soon. I don’t know why you are not taking interest in my case. Another thing is that I cannot forget anybody’s gratitude. I will be grateful to you if you plead my case.

Mr. Parvez I know that besides being human rights activist you are a reputed lawyer as well and know how to plead law with law. I know you have good relationships and reputation in various international human rights forums. Despite this, I don’t understand why I am languishing in jail for last four years and unsuccessful in owing a lawyer to plead my case.

You can imagine how much painful life can be for me in jail when my children have been expelled from their school, my mother has been lying on death bed struggling between life and death, my family has no food to take and no clothes to put on.

One has to accept truth, I know I don’t have any close relationship with you or my ancestral debt is not lying on your shoulders, so that you can plead my case. But considering you as my elder brother I have a right to have grudge for you and lay my belief and trust on you. It is already known to you that I have lost my five family members during the period of freedom struggle in Kashmir. I don’t have my own brother and father, over whom I can hope on. So I have to trust and lay my faith only on you.

I don’t have faith in pro-freedom political leaders or any other leader, as I know they have not done anything good to their nation and people, how can I expect something good from them. They even did not do well with you; the apparent thing in this regard is their propaganda against APDP. They had hatred against me from the beginning how can I expect sympathy from them. Even none of them ever wrote to me during these four years and nobody came to meet me in Srinagar during court session.

Anyways without going into detail, I wish, you will plead my case and go into the detail of it yourself, as advocate Pancholi is showing some disinterest in my case. In addition to this the jail authorities have also indifferent attitude towards me, they treat me as dangerous militant. Even during interrogation in jail, I was sodomised by the officials of Delhi Police Special Cell, which Nandita Haksar has mentioned in her book and in her letter to prime minister as well. But the irony is that none of the Human right institutions uttered a single word of condemnation. In addition to this so for not even a single person has sent any money to me through money order so that I could fulfill my requirements in the jail. I even requested you to send me ten thousand rupees, about which you had assured me that you would tell Gautam Navlakha to deposit ten thousand rupees in my jail account, but I have not received any money till date. I am in vital need of money, as I have to repay my jail debts, which has engulfed me from toe to head. I am also suffering from various diseases and the jail authorities are negligent for my medical treatment, which I require necessarily.

I also request you to pay visit to my mother who is sick and has been admitted in the hospital for treatment, she is in her last stage of life and is not taking food. There is nobody to look after her. I request you to collect admittance medical papers from my bother-in-law, Mushtaq Ahmad (Tel: 2440049), and after consulting N.D Pancholi apply for my parole. I also request you to send me to jail, the newspaper copies of Chattan, Qaumi Wiqar every week through postage.

I hope that after taking my woes into consideration you will take interest in my case and pay attention towards it. And I also hope you will visit to Tihar jail to meet me.

I look forward for your favorable reply.

Mohammad Ahsun Untoo

Chairman International Forum   

For Justice and Human Rights, J&K

TORTURE TESTIMONIES

Case 01

Name: Abdul Qadeer

Residence: Ushkara, Barahmula Kashmir

Gender: Male 

Age: 40 years 

Date of arrest: 1995

Place:  Srinagar 

Agency involved: army (unit not identified) 

Torture Testimonials

Abdul Qadeer was arrested in the year 1995 from capital city Srinagar. While traveling from Zero bridge RajBagh to Lal Chowk. Qadeer said, “ I was picked up by some unidentified military personnel (agency was not identified). They blindfolded me and took me to some unknown place. There I was detained for four days. The armed personnel used 3rd degree torture that includes mega shocks, rollers, stretching etc. He was later shifted to many interrogation center and jails”. While describing the method of torture he said, “ The 3rd degree torture includes continuous beating for hours, with rifles and thick sticks all over the body especially on the thighs and buttocks. They even use wooden rollers on my thighs. One-army personnel either sit on the stomach or back and trampled the roller up and down crushed thigh muscles. They also applied electric shocks to my different body parts”. Beside these modes of torture many times Qadeer’s head was forced into bucket of water. His one leg was tied and Army forces made him to stand on another leg continuously for hours and that is a painful exercise. For months he was denied to sleep.   

In addition to physical torture Qadeer and others had gone though mental torture too. While asking him what nature of mental torture he said, “ Apart from physical assault forces apply mental torture. They humiliate you very often by treating you as terrorists, Muslims as untouchables etc. Furthermore they provide very limited water quantity to drink. In summers they give hot water instead of cold water to drink and visa-versa.  Even the space provided at prisons is not enough to breath. Fifteen to twenty people are confined to 10 by 10 room”.  

Qadeer has developed many health problems due to torture. He often complaints about the pain in his right and left arm that was fractured once during interrogation. While asking him was he examined by doctor at that state he said, “As my arm and leg received major fracture I was taken to the Army hospital located in Badambagh. Even it was also detected medically. However, the army hospital authority did not issue any certificate in that regard.”

One more important thing that Qadeer disclosed is that if any victim died in custody no autopsy or forensic examinations were conducted. Either they labeled the dead victim as foreign militant and were killed in encounter or throw his dead body in river. 

Qadeer was detained in different interrogation centers and Jails of valley for about three years. Though judiciary imprisoned him for a year. While on asking him the purpose of torture he replied he was arrested because he was involved in militancy and was fighting for his legitimate struggle. The army tried to convince me to work for them, which I refused.”  

Case: 02 

Name: Manzoor Ahmad Lone

Residence: Delina, Barahmulla 

Gender: Male 

Age: 38 years 

Date of arrest: 26th December 1993. 

Place:  Manzoor was arrested at Ladoora (Rafi abad)

Agency involved: Indian Security Forces (15 Punjab Regiment)
Torture testimonials 

On 26th December 1993, Manzoor was arrested at Ladoora (Rafiabad).  15 Punjab Regiment recovered some arms and ammunition from Manzoor. Later he was taken to fruit Mandi, Sopore that time Indian army used it as a camp said Manzoor. “On reaching there they used 3rd degree torture. Around six buckets of water was forcibly poured into my mouth. After that many army personnel kicked my stomach several times. As a result of which I vomit water and blood. Many times forces insert petrol bottle in my anus. They plucked flesh of my fore arms and rubbed the wounds with salt and chili powder. Later they covered the wounds with dirty cloths,” said Manzoor. 

Besides that Manzoor disclosed that Indian forces used electric shocks while interrogating arrestees. “They attached electric wires with my penis and ear lobules and gave electric shocks. They also used iron rollers, trampled them up and down that crushed my thigh muscles.” 

Manzoor has developed many major health problems. He said, “Torture has dislocated my knee joints and backbone. Marks of injuries are still visible on my body.” While on asking him did any doctor at any point examine him during or after his ordeal? He said, “No doctor examined me. They gave painkillers without consulting doctors or any medical expert. Even on receiving the major injuries detainees are not provided any medical treatment. Neither t families are allowed to give any medicine or domestic remedies to their arrested relatives.” 

Manzoor believed he was tortured because some arms and ammunitions were recovered from him. He was associated with a militant outfit……………. “Forces tortured me so that I could disclose the name of my associates. “ He also mentioned no body was allowed to visit him during torture center neither his family nor any lawyer.  
Case: 03

Name: Mushtaq Ahmad Najar

Residence: M.E.T road, Sopore

Gender: Male 

Age: 38

Date of arrest: 08 October 1993. 

Place:  Sopore

Agency involved: army (unit not identified) 

Torture testimonials 

On 8th October 1993 Mushtaq Ahmed Najar was arrested from Sopore. The army personnel recovered some arms and ammunition. Mushtaq believed he was arrested because he was involved in a militant outfit. “ As forces recovered some arms and ammunition they tortured me so that I may disclose the names of my associates and they were also demanding more arms and ammunitions. “ While describing the modes of torture, Mustaq said, “They used 3rd degree torture. They beat me ruthlessly for hours with riffles and sticks. They use iron rode of length 6 meters and 3 inches in diameter during torture. Four persons two on each side sit on the rode till I fell unconsciousness. Then they forcibly made me to drink chilly water so that I would get my cognizant. “ Beside that Mushtaq forces made Mushtaq to hang for hours and that is a painful exercise. For many days he was denied to sleep. 

As a result of torture Mushtaq said his muscles were crushed down and the bones were broken down. His hands and foot were swelled up. Mushtaq was taken to army hospital where doctor prescribed medicines but he was not given any medicine. His relatives were allowed to meet him on every eighth day but he was not permissible to receive medicines from them and nor to purchase medicines. One more thing that Mushtaq disclosed that the main purpose behind the torture is makes arrestees disabled for the rest of their life. They treat arrestees so brutally even after their release arrestees are not able to live a normal and healthy life.  

Case 04

Name: Ghulam Mohammed Dar 

Residence: Rakhi Haigam, Sopore

 Gender: Male 

Age: 38 years

Date of arrest: 17th June 1994 

Place:   Haigam Sopore

Agency involved: Indian Forces (Bsf 131 BN)

Torture testimonials

On 17th June 1994 Ghulam Mohammed Dar was arrested at Haigam Sopore. He was taken to industrial estate camp in sopore and later Barahmulla, Joint Interrogation Center. While narrating the method of torture that forces used, Dar said, “ forces crushed my thigh muscles and back by a heavy iron rod. Two army officials used to sit on either sides of rod and exert pressure, that’s a very painful method they mostly used. They also applied electric shocks to my different body parts like pennies and fore head. They use main electricity server while giving me electric shocks. A part from that chilly powder dissolved in water was poured into my mouth. They insert chilly powder in my anus. They hanged me upside down continuously for three days. They burnt flesh of my buttocks. ”

As a result of torture Dar received brutal injuries all over his body. His fingers both elbows and knees were broken down. On asking him was he taken to hospital or examined by any doctor, Dar said no medical facility was provided him even they didn’t allow my family to provide me any medicines.       

FATHER OF VICTIM OF FAKE ENCOUNTER WAITS FOR JUSTICE
January 4: Stating that he is being discriminated on the basis of his community, Noor Aalam Kataria father of Showkat Kataria a cleric from Banihal who was killed in a fake encounter said that he unlike other fake encounter victims has been neglected and he has not received any kind of benefit from the government till date. Noor Aalam was briefing media persons in Srinagar. 

Special Operations Group (SOG) killed Showkat, an Imam at a Masjid in the Alamgari Bazar in a fake encounter. The troops had dubbed him as a foreign militant and his identity was established as that of Abu Hamza owing allegiance to Lashkar-e-Toiba (LET). 

"Chief Minister Ghulam Nabi Azad came to Kokernag area and handed me over a cheque. I was asked to hand it over to education minister Peerzada Mohammad Sayeed with the assurance that it would be given to me later on. That day never came and I was left high and dry. Since we belong to the Gujjar community we are being discriminated against and there is nobody who would listen to us," said the father of Showkat Ahmad. 

He added that more than 10 months have passed ever since it was disclosed that his son has been killed in a fake encounter and at that time the government had said that it would not take more than 10 days to complete the formalities regarding the relief. "Up to this moment of time the formalities have not been completed and I am waiting for the justice to be delivered," said Noor Alam. 

When asked if he has recorded his statement before court, father of Showkat said that so far nobody has come forward and guided him to do that. He said that he has lost hope on every institution and believes that there is nobody who would heal his wounds. 

"The sad part of the whole story is that nobody came to console me on the killing of my son. No politician from any group came to visit us and it speaks volumes about the non-seriousness on part of the government. Even the Gujjar and Bakerwal Board high ups who are supposed to be sympathizers of Gujjar community have ditched us, but sadly nobody has been held accountable for their actions," said father of Showkat. 

It is pertinent to mention here that it was only after the expose of the fake encounter case of Abdul Rehman Padder that more incidents of fake encounters came to the forefront. The case of Showkat was one among those and his body was exhumed at Bazipora-Ajas and the same was identified by his father. 

Later the DNA test also confirmed the exhumed body from Bazipora as that of Showkat.
KASHMIRIS STILL UNSAFE OUTSIDE J&K

DECLARED INNOCENT, YOUTH STILL IN KERALA JAIL

January 9: In the modest house of Srinagar’s Lal Bazaar locality, an old aged couple has been shedding tears since Jan 7.  To the visitors their only question is: Where’s is our Altaf?
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Altaf their only son was picked up by the police in southern Indian state of Kerela. He’d been selling Kashmiri handicrafts there since 1998. Altaf, like many kashmiri detained outside state time and again has been branded as Hizb-ul-Mujahideen cadre, a charge strongly contested by his father Abdul Rashid Khan. He has been sent to judicial custody on January 16.

Reports said Altaf a 28-year-old youth a bachelor was arrested immediately after the police in Kerala got a tip off from their counterparts in the Valley, that Altaf was an alleged HM militant, Kashmir’s largest militant organization. Altaf had applied for the passport in Kerala.

 His family believes that the kerala police have detained him under false charges. Father of Altaf, Abdul Rehman Khan said his son had applied for passport in Kerela in 2006. “On evening of January 7, police barged into Altaf’s shop and arrested him for unknown reasons”, said Khan.

He said that Altaf is running his business in Kerela police for past eight years. “He started his career as a salesman and on jan 17, 2007. he owned a handicraft shop in partnership with two other businessmen in Kerela including a Kashmiri. My son has never been questioned or detained by Kerela police during past eight years. How can they (Kerela Police) suddenly allege that my son is wanted in many cases in Kashmir, and arrest him when (kashmir) police told me that my son is not involved in any case,” said Khan amid sobs.

 “He was also arrested in the year 1997 (when he was 17) and detained under Public safety Act (PSA) on the charge of working for HM” said his father. Altaf was freed in 1998 after he was acquitted and exonerated of all charges by a court.

To eke out his living, after deciding to shift from the valley, he landed in Kerala where he dealt with Kashmiri handcrafts, until his arrest, on Jan 7, 2008.

Khan said, his son, after acquiring expertise in the trade, had decided to move to the Gulf. So, he applied for a passport from Kerela, as the Passport rules demand that an applicant should apply from a place where he has been for 10 or more years. But Khan said“Altaf’s all dreams have shattered”.

Altaf’s family has sought JK state government’s help in ensuring his son’s safety and freedom.

His Parents had approached J&K police here seeking their intervention in the matter. J&K police has admitted in the written letter to kerala police that Altaf is not involved in any unlawful activity.  “We have written to Kerala police that Altaf Ahmad Khan is not required by J&K police and is not involved in any activity,” Senior Superintendent of Police Srinagar, S A Mujtabah said. (Courtesy Greater Kashmir)

Meanwhile, a court in Kerala has rejected Altaf’s bail application and sent him to judicial custody. In its report filed before the Court, police has alleged that Altaf possessed a fake identity card. Police has reported that Altaf was “wanted” in many cases in Kashmir and sought his custody for further investigation. “Altaf is a member of a militant organization and is hiding from Kashmir police”, police alleged in the report.

Altaf’s counsel argued that the accused was not wanted in any crime or case in J&K. “Altaf is not a militant and has been falsely implicated by the police for only purpose of media mileage and reputation,” the counsel argued, adding that Altaf was ready to cooperate with the police in investigation.

The court agreed to the argument of counsel for the accused that police has not produced any document or filed any report showing that Altaf was a member of any militant organization and engaged in any anti-social activity, but refused him bail. 

“The investigation in the case has not been completed and further details regarding involvement of accused in any case in J&K are to be obtained. Hence the bail application is rejected,” the court said.

CRPF BARRICADES, DROP GATES CAUSE INCONVENIENCE

January 2: It is not clear whether the government has authorized the Central Reserve Police Force (CRPF) to erect drop gates or put barricades and barbed wire on the roads around bunkers, but commuters and pedestrians feel inconvenience caused by these measures. 

The CRPF troopers have erected drop gates outside the CRPF camps at Karan Nagar, Ikhwan Chowk, Khanyar, Kathidarwaza, Bishembar Nagar, and several other places. And almost every bunker has coils of barbed wire surrounding it and extending onto the roads. Often the clothes of pedestrians get caught in the wire. 

 At many places, Baba Demb for example, one of the two roads is completely blocked after evening hours, restricting the flow of traffic to one road only. This has caused accidents in the past. At Ikhwan Chowk, one side of the road is completely blocked from 8 PM. 

 Inspector General of Police Traffic, Muhammad Amin Shah told media that the CRPF authorities don’t inform Traffic Police about any blockade erected by the troopers.

The spokesman of CRPF, Prabakar Tripathi, told media that though there is no “formal understanding” with the state government about placing these drop gates, the CRPF top brass does “consult the police officials concerned and inform them about any road blockade or presence of drop gates.” The spokesman said the drop gates are placed for security reasons.”  

The residents of Ikhwan Chowk, who spoke to media, said the troopers block the road every night. “The road blockade causes great inconvenience to commuters because they are not aware that suddenly a road has been closed, and that too in the dark,” the residents said.

The CRPF personnel camping in a hotel in Nowpora have erected barricades on nearly half of the road. Frequent traffic disruptions are caused when CRPF vehicles leave or enter the camp.

21 KASHMIRI DETENUES IN TIHAR LIVE IN MISERY
KBA EXPRESSES CONCERN OVER INHUMAN CONDITIONS

Srinagar, January 2: The condition of 21 Kashmiri prisoners lodged in Tihar Jail is miserable to such an extent that their human rights cease to exist, says a report compiled by Kashmir Bar Association (KBA) who had deputed a fact finding team to this jail in Delhi following a letter written by detainees to the association.

Quoting a recent letter written by Kashmiri inmates who are lodged in Tihar Jail, KBA has mentioned in its report that a ward in this jail comprises of six blocks, has a gate each, which remains locked all the time and behind these gates are small cells of nine by twelve feet covered from all sides by huge walls and from roof tops by iron bars.

The Kashmir inmates are lodged in these cells which have a pit without any cover called latrine, reads the letter quoted by the KBA. Three to four inmates share this cell, with urinal, latrine, bathroom, eating food, washing clothes, bathing all activities are confined to this cell. The letter reads further that these cells have no ventilation and not even a cloth is provided to separate the latrines so that human values could be kept intact.

"You must be wondering how human beings are being kept in a jail located under the nose of parliament of India that makes laws to govern its people," states this letter. It is pertinent to mention here that after receiving a letter from these inmates in July 2007, KBA filed a writ petition 465/07 before the High Court at Srinagar for constituting a special team for conducting an enquiry into the illegal arrest and detention of the 21 Kashmiri prisoners seeking appropriate order from the high court.

The association had also requested the high court to direct the Tihar jail authorities to permit its office bearers to meet these prisoners. The writ petition as well as the application came up for orders before the high court on September 1, 2007 when it was pleased to ask the Tihar jail authorities to file a report about these 21 prisoners and also to allow the petitioners (KBA) and its members to meet these 21 inmates in Tihar Jail Delhi.

The KBA team comprising of Advocate Mian Abdul Qayoom, KBA secretary Advocate Mohammad Ashraf Bhat and joint secretary KBA Advocate Bashir Sidiq after getting permission to visit the jail met 21 prisoners who were lodged in different wards but all of them had complained about their pathetic conditions. These inmates have further requested the KBA to work for the transfer of their cases to any other court in Kashmir.

These under trial prisoners have maintained that their bail applications are deliberately rejected while their co accused non-Muslims are granted the same. "We are thinking of taking extreme steps like indefinite hunger strike or boycotting the courts," reads the letter of these prisoners.

Advocate Mian Abdul Qayoom while talking to the media said, "We have submitted this report before the court and we are waiting for the orders. As far as the desire of these prisoners that their cases be transferred to any court in Kashmir, the Bar has decided to file a petition in the Supreme Court in this regard."

Advocate Mohammad Ashraf who was the member of the team that visited Tihar Jail while talking to media said, "This is an unfortunate aspect of Kashmir history. Our youth is being whisked away and lodged in a jail where living is not only miserable, but unbelievable too. We are trying our best to create a comfort level for them."

DETAINEES ON HUNGER STRIKE IN CENTRAL JAIL SRINAGAR

January 23: About 10 detainees lodged at Central Jail Srinagar are on a hunger strike after the jail authorities failed to produce them in a court on their date of hearing. 

Hurriyat Conference (G) spokesman, Ayaz Akbar told KNS that the ten detainees are on hunger strike from January 22 because they were not produced in the court during the hearing of their respective cases. 

Akbar alleged that the jail authorities are deliberately harassing the detainees. The detainees include Muhammad Yasin, Farooq Ahmad Beg, Abdur Rashid Baba, Nissar Ahmad Wani, Altaf Ahmad, Javaid Ahmad Hakeem, Shabir Ahmad Sheikh, Abdul Hamid Malik, Abdul Khaliq Rather and Muhammad Nadeem.

DETAINEES SUSPEND HUNGER STRIKE ON HCBA ASSURANCE

January 24: The ten detainees who were on a hunger strike at Srinagar’s central jail for not being produced in the court on time have suspended the strike after the High Court Bar Association (HCBA) assured them that the matter would be taken up with the higher authorities.

The Bar team, led by the Bar secretary Muhammad Ashraf Bhat and advocate Bashir Sidiq, on Wednesday visited the detainees and assured them all possible help. The members also met the Superintendent of Central Jail, who according to them, has already taken up the matter with the District Police Lines. 

The detainees were on hunger strike for the past three days because the jail authorities failed to produce them in court during the hearing of their respective cases. 

Bar said the detainees are not provided the escort, which results in their failure to appear before the hearings. “When the detainees fail to appear in courts, the prosecution fails to produce the witnesses,” a Bar member said. 

Meanwhile, the detainees have threatened to boycott courts if their issues are not solved forthwith.
KOCHI ARRESTED NOT OUR CADRE: HM

January 07: Frontline militant outfit Hizb-ul-Mujahideen has rejected the Kerala police claims that the person arrested at Kumily was their cadre. 

“The man, Altaf Ahmad proclaimed as Hizbul Mujahideen cadre by Kerala Police is neither our worker nor has he any affiliation with any other militant outfit”, Junaid Islam was quoted by a local news agency KNS as saying. 

Islam, KNS said, attributed the “framing” of Kashmiris (residing outside the Valley either for education or business) in false charges to two reasons. 

“One is to weaken the economy of Kashmir and extort huge sums of money from the parents of detained youths,” said Islam. 

Kerala police claimed on Saturday that they arrested Altaf Ahmad from Kumily area of Thiruvannanthapuram and claimed that he had links with HM. 

Islam said that Altaf’s arrest belies the claims of Chief Minister Ghulam Nabi Azad that no Kashmiri will be harassed outside the State. 

“Like people of Jammu Kashmir, citizens of other places of India turn to Kashmir for education and business. There is no relation of traders and student community with militants and if these acts are not stopped, there could be adverse effects in future,” Islam said. 

Islam also called upon world human rights bodies to intervene.  

IN DEMILITARIZATION DIN, TROOPS STILL OCCUPY NIT CAMPUS

Srinagar, January 9: Troops continue to occupy the National Institute of Technology (the erstwhile Regional Engineering College) at Hazrtabal, despite the assurances of Union Defence Minister A K Antony and Kashmir’s Governor Lt General S K Sinha. 

The troops of paramilitary CRPF’s 137 battalion are housed in a hostel, a mess, a guesthouse and one more building of the NIT, which was once ranked among the best five engineering colleges in India.

Understandably, the students feel uncomfortable in the presence of soldiers. “We’re at loss to understand why the troops are occupying the college, though peace largely prevailed here during the last 17 years of conflict,” said Aamir, an NIT student, who refused to give his full name, fearing reprisal from the troops.

“We need academic atmosphere here. The presence of the troops, however, defeats the purpose,” said Shabir Ahmed, another student.

The presence of troops in the campus has not been incident-free. Recently, a soldier, apparently out of frustration, shot himself dead leading to panic among the students and teaching faculty. “Who’ll ensure our safety?” a senior teacher, wishing not to be named, told etala’at.

There are some serious allegations against the troops as well. The students charge them with selling liquor in the campus. “Furthermore, they pass indecent comments whenever we pass by them,” said Tasleema (name changed), a student. 
“Our repeated pleas (to remove the troops from the college campus) have fallen on deaf ears,” she added.

NIT Registrar Abdur Rahman Bhat refused to comment on the issue, saying he was not authorised to talk to media.
CRPF spokesman P Tripathi, when contacted, told etala’at the accommodation of the forces was the sole responsibility of the state government. If alternate accommodation is provided, Tripathi said, the CRPF would vacate the campus.
Tripathi also refuted the allegations of liquor trade in the campus. “It’s totally baseless,” he insisted.

VILLAGERS FOIL MOLESTATION ATTEMPT BY SOLDIERS

Jammu, January 11: Army arrested four soldiers for allegedly forcing their entry in the house of a villager and attempting to molest women in Kalakote area of Rajouri district. 

Reports revealed that in the intervening night of 10th and 11th January at least four soldiers, armed with automatic weapons, barged inside the house of a villager at Sarano village of Kalakote area and tried to molest women present in the house. 

 Sources told media that the soldiers, who were part of a patrolling party of 20 Rashtariya Rifles, locked the male members of the family in a room and attempted to molest women. 

 The family members, sources said, raised an alarm. Hearing the cries two members of Village Defense Committee (VDC) came out of their house and fired some shots in air. 

 “Presuming it as a militant attack, the VDC members rushed to the house and fired gunshots in air”, a local resident told Media. 

 He added that the sensing trouble the soldiers tried to escape from the spot but the villagers with the help of VDC members caught two of them. “Though the accused managed to escape, villager managed to snatch one of the weapon from the soldiers”, sources added. 

In the meanwhile, some locals informed the police which rushed to the spot. The official weapon of the army man was handed over to police, which immediately logged a case and started investigation. 

 
When contacted defense spokesman Lt Col SD Goswami told media that army has taken serious note of the allegations leveled by the villagers. “All the four soldiers have been arrested and a court of inquiry has been ordered to look into the matter”, he said adding, “The accused would be punished under law if found guilty”.
TEACHER, BAKER KILLED IN COLD-BLOOD, CONFESSES CM

CLAIMS NO CUSTODIAL DEATH IN 2007

Jammu, January 15: A court of enquiry carried out in the killing of a schoolteacher and a baker in Kashmir last year has concluded that they were murdered in cold-blood. Court martial proceedings are going to start soon in both the cases. Replying to the discussion on Governor's address in the Legislative Assembly, Chief Minister Ghulam Nabi Azad said that in the case of Abdul Rashid Mir, the schoolteacher who was killed by the troops on October 19, 2007, prima facie evidence has proven that it is a case of murder.

"It was on October 19 last year that the teacher was killed by the troops. Immediately after the incident, I talked to the Defense Minister as well as Chief of Army Staff. Following this a court of enquiry was ordered in the case and the prima evidence has proved that it was case of murder. Action has not only been taken against the said trooper but some other troopers. Not only this the court of martial in this case would start very soon and the same would decide about the extent as well as nature of the punishment," Azad said. 

He said that on November 17, 2007, Reyaz Ahmad Sofi, the baker, was killed in the Yarikhah area of Kulgam district. He said in this case as well the issue was taken up with the Defense Minister as well as Army chief. 

"The court of enquiry has been completed in this case as well and besides the said trooper two other officers have also been punished. The court martial proceedings in this case are going to start very soon and once it is over then one would come to know about the duration as well as nature of the punishment," said Azad. 

The Chief Minister said that earlier 20-30 custodial deaths took place in a year, but no action was taken against the troopers or the police personnel involved in such incidents. "We are on our job of ensuring the zero tolerance level and during 2007 no case of custodial killing as well as custodial disappearance was reported from any part of the state. It goes to the credit of coalition government that action was taken against the guilty and these people were not allowed to go scott free," said Azad

Despite recommendations of Prime Minister Manmohan Singh's working group on human rights, SHRC registered an increase in custodial killings and disappearances, a fact reflected by the annual report of the commission for the year 2006-07. 

PADDER FAKE ENCOUNTER HEARING

SPO GIVES NEW TWIST TO CASE

January 17: Giving a new twist to the Abdul Rehman Padder fake encounter case, a prosecution witness disclosed that accused Manzoor Ahmad had claimed killing of a civilian, who had accompanied them during an operation at Batwina Ganderbal in 2006. 

"On the directions of accused ASI Farooq Gudoo, we marched towards Batwina Ganderbal. We were accompanied by a civilian from Sumbal camp. On reaching Batwina in Ganderbal, we heard some gunshots. Accused Manzoor Ahmad directed us to disperse but kept that civilian with him. And after the firing was over we assembled in that orchard, we found a body lying on the ground. We asked accused Manzoor about the body. He said that he had killed him as he was a foreign militant," said the prosecutions witness Abdul Hameed, a Special Police Official (SPO), who had worked at SOG Sumbal Camp in 2006. 

These statements were heard and recorded by the principal district and session's judge Hussnain Masoodi. Hameed stated that since he was not asked these questions on Jan 16, he found it of paramount importance to disclose these points. 

"When we left Sumbal camp for that operation at Batwina, the accused Manzoor told us that the civilian accompanying us was supposed to provide information about some foreign militants hiding at Batwina. But after the firing was over we identified the deceased as that civilian who had accompanied us," he added. 

Hameed said that accused Manzoor had claimed the killing of that civilian before the whole party that participated in that operation. "In front of Sarandaz Khan, Zaheer Abbaas, Farooq Ahmad, Karnail Singh and me the accused Manzoor said that since that person (carpenter) was a Pakistani militant he had killed him during the operation," the prosecution witness added. 

Hameed further stated that next day after that operation he saw that body at SOG camp Sumbal where he identified the dress worn by the deceased. "The dress worn by the deceased was my Khan dress which was taken from me by ASI Farooq Gudoo a day before that operation," he said. 

Meanwhile, another witness, an assistant commandant of CRPF Soura, Tanveer Jamal, said that his party had stopped an Indica car boarded by ASI Farooq Gudoo and his colleagues. "They were in a hurry and we stopped them for their detention. Later I received a call from the then SSP Gandrebal, H R Parihaar to release them immediately as they were on some important operation," he added. 

The statements of PSO of the then SSP Ganderbal H R Parihaar, Ratan Chand were also recorded by the court. The Special Public Prosecutor, Farooq Ahmad Kathwari, Chief Prosecuting Officer Bari Andrabi, termed the statements of the witnesses as corroborative evidences against the accused. 

Meanwhile, the application filed before the court by the public prosecutor for moving the closing report in FIR 133 from Chief Judicial Magistrate (CJM) Srinagar was allowed by the court. The court observed that since the closing report could provide more information about the case, the public prosecutor can avail that report as has been submitted by him in his application. The next date of hearing has been fixed on February 1, 2.

WHAT JANUARY 26 MEANS TO KASHMIRIS

Srinagar, January 23: The state administration is always on the lookout to find new ways to indulge in corrupt practice, and January 26 official celebration is no exception. 

A classic example is that of district administration in Baramulla where, for the umpteenth time during recent years the celebration on January 26 and August 15 has been converted into a money-spinner by the officials entrusted with organizing the government show.

Several departments in the district have been charted to provide for various arrangements like provision of chairs, sofa, shamiyana, refreshments and medals for the occasion, just like the practice adopted last year on August 15 and reported by media. 

The departments involved in the arrangement include roads and buildings, mechanical engineering, rural engineering, irrigation, youth services and sports, industries, sericulture, soil conservation and several other departments besides police, health, animal and sheep husbandry and municipal council. Their district heads have been directed to ensure the arrangements in time for the official function to be held at the district headquarter although no funds have been provided to them. 

Interestingly no funds are provided to these departments for making these arrangements. As a consequence the heads of various offices are made to cough up the money by raising contributions by their employees as has been done in the past. 

As already reported in August, the same practice was followed last year. Although the district officials looking after the arrangements had told media that the money spent by various departments would be reimbursed to the concerned department immediately on receipt of funds from the government, no reimbursement has taken place so far despite lapse of more than five months.
Interestingly, this money making practice is being followed in Baramulla district only.

When contacted, the district development commissioner Basheer Ahmad Khan told media that the divisional commissioner allots funds for the purpose. However when asked whether money spent by various departments for making the arrangements is reimbursed to them immediately after, he dropped the receiver.

Talking to media on condition of anonymity, a district officer said it has been the practice for quiet some time in the district. “In any case no reimbursement is being made to concerned department. And the money that is allotted later is pocketed by some unscrupulous officials.”

GOVERMENT GUNMAN GETS LIFE FOR MURDER

Kupwara, January 23: Sessions Judge Kupwara sentenced an Ikhwani, Sarvar Ganai, to rigorous imprisonment for life and a fine of Rs 1 lakh for murdering a professor’s family, and 10-year imprisonment and fine of Rs 25000 for murderous attack on innocent people.

Session Judge Muhammad Nazir Fida ordered SSP Kupwara to arrest another accused, Mushtaq Ahmad Sheikh of Warson Kupwara.

Sarvar Ganai of Hayhama Kupwara, working for Army’s 24 RR under the supervision of CO Col Bali, was convicted for the murder on Dec 27, 2007. The family of Prof Muhammad Amin Shah was murdered on July 13, 1999.

Earlier the prosecutor had prayed for death to the convict and argued that the case was rarest of the rare as Professor Muhammad Amin Shah of Degree College Kupwara and three members of his family including his wife and two sister-in-laws were murdered during sleep.

However, the relatives of the Professor are not satisfied with the judgement. “We were expecting that he will be given a death sentence so that it can act as a deterrent for the rest of the people,” a relative said.

HANDWARA RESIDENTS PROTEST AGAINST SOG MEN

January 26: Hundreds of residents of Handwara demonstrated against the Special Operation Group (SOG) men accusing them of harassing innocent civilians.

 
The residents alleged that from last few days the SOG men have been arresting the youth of the area without any reason.

 
“The SOG men arrested my son Firdous Ahmad on January 21 without any reason. It is the fifth day since then I have not been allowed to meet him,” said Muhammad Akbar.

Residents staged demonstration when the SOG men on Saturday attempted to arrest another youth Shabeer Ahmad.

“We protested against the continued arrests taking place as yesterday the SOG men arrested Mushtaq Ahmad Mir and today they tried to arrest one more youth,” said a protestor requesting anonymity.

CIVILIAN GUNNED DOWN IN HANDWARA

January 28: Unidentified gunmen have kidnapped and subsequently shot dead a civilian in Handwara area in north Kashmir. 
Informed sources said that two gunmen, armed with Chinese pistols, appeared at Badra Payeen village in Handwara in the afternoon and they kidnapped 34-year-old Riyaz Ahmed from close vicinity of his home. His wife and mother followed the kidnappers frantically but they put him in a vehicle and sped away. He is believed to have been fired upon and killed as marks of blood were spotted in the area.

However, officials said that Riyaz Ahmed was "missing" after he had been kidnapped from his village. They said that Police had registered a report and begun search for the kidnapped youth. They said that Riyaz used to work with J&K Police as a Follower but few years back he had been discharged from service on account of his involvement with militancy. Many people in the locality had been suspecting him to be working for an intelligence agency and armed forces for the last over two years.
RELATIVES OF THREE YOUTH JAILED FOR DELHI DIWALI BLASTS JOINLTY HOLD PROTESTS

REFUTE CHARGES

Srinagar, January 28: Relatives of three Kashmiri youths including a university student allegedly framed by the infamous Special Cell of Delhi Police in the 2005 Diwali blasts and detained in Tihar Jail, on Monday staged protests here demanding their release. The protesters, carrying placards, appeared near the Press Enclave, chanting anti-Delhi Police slogans. 

They said though nothing was proved against the trio, charge sheets have been filed against them in Delhi’s Tis Hazari court. 

Mohammad Ayub Dar, brother of Tariq Ahmad Dar, one of the arrested youth who has been accused of triggering blasts on Diwali eve in New Delhi in 2005, said Tariq was working on a top position with Johnson and Johnson Limited (pharma division) at the time of his arrest.

“He had a bright future as he was doing well in his job,” Ayub, a resident of Solina, Srinagar, told reporters. 

According to him, his brother was detained on November 10, 2005 while he was returning from southern Islamabad district where he had gone in connection with his job. 

Another accused, Mohammad Rafiq who was pursuing post graduation from the Kashmir University was blamed by the Delhi Police of being in Delhi at the time of the serial blasts. Shah, however, according to his relatives was “very much in the Valley at the time of the blasts.”

His father, Mohammad Yaseen Shah told reporters that on the night of November 21, 2005 some cops banged their door and took Rafiq along. 

“After one and a half month, we received a phone call from Delhi saying that our son is in Tihar jail,” Shah said. “Even the then vice-chancellor (of Kashmir University) has given a certificate that Rafiq was in the campus when the blasts rocked the Indian capital,” Shah said. “But who cares?” 

Shah added that on April 2006, Delhi Police arrested one imam Waliullah from Deoband and four Bangladeshis who reportedly confessed they were involved in Delhi Blasts. “Later CIB Lucknow arrested Babu Ram and Jalal-ud-Din and according to them Kashmiris have been arrested by the Delhi police for earning medals and promotions,” he said. 

He said the Indian government through its various security agencies working in Kashmir can investigate about his son’s profile. “If they find him guilty, they have a right to punish him but if he is innocent, he should be set free,” he said. 

The third accused, Mohammad Hussain, an artisan, was lifted from his home on November 21, 2005. According to his father, G R Fazli some cops entered their house, thrashed the family inmates and forcibly took their son saying that they have to ask him something. 

“After sometime we received a phone call from Delhi saying that Hussain is in Tihar. Later we received news that he has been released. We don’t know where he’s now,” said Fazli.

“Let them free our sons and relieve our trauma,” the relatives of the trio told etala’at in one voice.

J&K STATE HUMAN RIGHTS COMMISSION

SHRC INDICTS 4 SOLDIERS FOR YOUTH’S CUSTODIAL KILLING DIRECTS CRIME BRANCH TO CONDUCT PROBE
January 7: The State Human Rights Commission (SHRC) indicted an Army Major and his three associates in the custodial killing of a youth of Banihal, Doda four years ago and directed the Crime Branch to probe the case.  

The SHRC had received a complaint from the family members of Muhammad Yusuf Kumhar son of Abdur Razak Kumhar of Neil Banihal that he was lifted by personnel of Army’s 23 Rashtriya Rifles and then killed in custody on January 1, 2004.  

In its petition to the Commission, Yusuf’s family stated that the troops of 23-RR killed him as he imparted religious education to the village children. A case (FIR no 15/2004) was registered in Banihal police station.  

Admitting the petition, HU Bhat, the acting chairperson of SHRC, quoted a report of Superintendent of Police Ramban in which he acknowledged that the troops led by Major Dass lifted Yusuf on the fateful day. 

In the report the SP stated that inquiry from the Army personnel, who were on duty and transferred to other units, was held. 

Three of them, Subedar Rampaul, Naik Manoj Singh and Sepoy Sandeep Singh, the report said, were summoned through Army channel and questioned. 

“On scrutinizing statements of Army personnel it was found that on January 1, 2004 the civilian (Yusuf) was brought to Army Post Ukhral by operational party under command of Major Dass. (Next day) he was taken to battalion headquarters Nachlana and on January 14 he was again brought to Ukhral army post,” the police report said. 

“The civilian on the pretext of going to toilet ran away towards a Nallah. The sentry on duty sepoy Sandeep Singh raised an alarm. Other personnel chased the civilian but due to darkness could not catch him,” it adds. 

In his order, the SHRC chairperson stated that “the report of SP Ramban has clearly indicted Major Dass and the RR personnel posted with him at Ukhral Camp. Major Dass was in command of this camp and Yusuf was picked by him when he was accompanied by other personnel and the justification for his disappearance is that he ran away in darkness. This explanation is not only irrational but merit-less.  This explanation cannot satisfy human conscious that a person in the custody of Major Dass for 14 days will escape in darkness.” 

“If a person is detained for 14 days and then whisked away in darkness, then the country does no require the services of such officers like Major Dass and the personnel with him. We are mindful of what is frequently happening these days. Persons are kidnapped and sight of others and are forcibly taken out of the sight of all others and later killed,” the chairperson said. 

“The law of presumption speaks sharply against Major Dass’s explanation that he ran away in darkness. The Commission reminds Major Dass and his associates of 23-RR that last scene of theory in law of evidence has not outdated from the law of land. Yusuf was with them for 14 years and disappeared. It clearly means that they killed him and destroyed his very existence in a convenient manner. The explanation projected is blown down,” he said.  

Admitting the petition, the Commission directed the Crime Branch to carry out investigation against Major Dass and his associates and submit a report within three months. 

The Commission also directed the government to pay monetary relief of two lakh rupees to the deceased’s family and benefit of SRO-43 to its eligible member. Yusuf is survived by wife and two small children.

SHRC RECOMMENDS RS 1 LAKH COMPENSATION FOR DARHAL POLICE TORTURE VICTIM

Srinagar, January 10: The State Human Rights Commission (SHRC) has recommended rupees 1lakh compensation to a resident of Rajouri after his private part got injured due to torture in police custody on November 1, 2006. 

According to officials of SHRC, the residents of Darhal district of Rajouri reported in the office of SHRC that SHO Darhal Mohmmad Farooq Khan lifted a resident Ghulam Qadir from his home on November 1, 2006. His private part was injured from behind which made him to fall unconscious and then first aid was given to him in the police station itself, but when the residents of Darhal demonstrated and brought the matter the notice of senior superintendent of police Rajouri. Qadir was shifted to district hospital Rajouri for treatment and after examining, he was sent for observation to government medical college Jammu.

 
The SHRC after hearing the residents sought a detailed report about the incident from IG Police Jammu. The report filed by the police after taking the cognizance of the SHRC letter stated, "Enquiry conducted revealed that the individual was allegedly arrested in FIR number: 71/2006 U/S 364 RPC of P/S Darhal and was put to sustained interrogation to ascertain his involvement/links with militants. S I Muhammad Bashir along with some unknown police officials with their faces covered tortured the individual in presence of SHO Darhal. During interrogation, the officials tortured the subject causing bodily injuries in order to ascertain his involvement in the militancy related activities." 

On this report, a case FIR number 89/2006 U/S 330 RPC was registered at police station Darhal and investigation was taken up. The then SHO Darhal Farooq Ahmad Khan inspector, SI Mohmmmad Bashir, constable Mohmmad Sadeeq, constable Abdul Hamid, constable Parviz, SPO Zakir Hussain, SPO Muneer Hussain, SPO Farooq Ahmad and SPO Riyaz were found involved in the commission of crime. The police personnel have placed under suspension and SPOs have been disengaged. The investigation of the case is 

continuing and it shall be finalized after receipt of medical report is received from SSP Rajouri" 

The petitioner Mohmmad Mahfooz Malik unfolded the miserable tale before SHRC. "That on Nov 01, 2006 his son was called by SHO and after detaining him in police lock up for one month he was released after taking Rs 50, 000. He was called second time and locked in the police station, he was tortured for night and was given electric shocks and acid was sprinkled on his private part, which put him in miserable condition. Subsequently he was shifted to government medical college Jammu, where he was treated and he had borne many expenses for the treatment and after registering the case against the police officials no purpose was served and instead he was approached for not fulfilling the case before SHRC and the petitioner accordingly put himself to the mercy of the commission."

According to the SHRC officials, the petitioner has produced with statement documents showing his admission in government medical college Jammu on 7-11-2006. The discharge certificate, issued by the doctors and signed by Dr Kailash Singh, Registrar Surgery GMC Jammu mentions, "Certified that Ghulam Qadir resident Darhal Rajouri was admitted in SI -I on 07-11-2006 under MRD number 433504 MLC number 6548. The patient had been referred from Rajouri hospital as a case of assault from police. The patient had bilateral perineal abscesses, which were drained. The patient was discharged on 24-1-2006."

 
The SHRC judgment says, “While coming to the case in hand this commission is shocked to find that heart hitting and distressing instances of torture in police custody are rampant by some of the personnel of J-K police against their own brethren. Hon'ble supreme court has expressed its deep shock about this type of custodial torture." 

The judgement says, "This commission recommends that Rs one lakh should be paid compensation in the ratio of Rs 50,000 by SHO Muhammad Farooq Khan the then SHO police station Darhal and SI Muhammad Bashir in equal shares and Rs. 50,000 should be paid by constables Muhammad Sadeeq, Abdul Hamid, Parvez and Aurangzeb in equal shares. This commission also recommends that the prosecution of the accused in the terms of FIR number 89/2006 U/S 330 of RPC should be taken to its logical end."

SHRC REPORT FALSIFIES ZERO TOLERANCE CLAIMS 366 CASES REGISTERED DURING 2006-07
Jammu, January27: State Human Rights Commission (SHRC) in its annual report for the year 2006-07 has falsified the vehement claims of zero tolerance towards human rights violations by the state government. 

 
Chief Minister Ghulam Nabi Azad has gone on record to claim that state government has taken effective measures to deal with disappearances and custodial killings. He has even maintained that human rights violations have decreased and no custodial disappearances took place in the last one-year. 

 
Despite recommendations of Prime Minister Manmohan Singh's working group on human rights, SHRC registered an increase in custodial killings and disappearances, a fact reflected by the annual report of the commission for the year 2006-07. 

 
Annual report reflects that against 312 cases instituted during 2005-06, SHRC registered 366 cases during 2006-07. Annual report attributes this increase to the addition in the cases of disappearance (+20), harassment (+10) and custodial killings (+3) during the year 2006-07 (128 cases) over the year 2005-06 (95 cases) across the state. 

It says that cases of custodial disappearance has increased considerably across the state with three north Kashmir districts viz. Budgam, Kupwara and Baramulla taking the lead with figures of 07, 16 and 15 disappearances respectively. Among other districts, Srinagar has reported 9 disappearances followed by Budgam (07), Anantnag (04), Pulwama (04), Kathua (01), Doda (02) and Poonch (01). 

No case of disappearance has been registered from three districts of Jammu province viz. Jammu, Udhampur and Rajouri. On comparative basis, number of disappearance cases reported during 2006-07 from districts of Budgam, Kupwara and Baramullah have doubled over those reported in the annual report of SHRC for the year 2005-06. Annual report of SHRC for the year 2005-06 confirms this. 
 
The report affirms that during the year 2005-06, Srinagar took the lead with highest number of custodial disappearances i.e. 11 followed by Baramulla (08), Kupwara (07), Anantnag (06), Budgam (03), Doda (02), Pulwama (01) and Poonch (01). A simple mathematical calculation reveals that cases have almost doubled in Budgam (+4), Kupwara (+9), Pulwama (+3) and Baramullah (+07). 

Annual report claims that cases have decreased in Srinagar (-2) and Anantnag (-2). Commission has further reported that cases of custodial killing in 2006-07 have increased as compared to year 2005-06. It says that it received 12 cases of custodial killing during the year 2005-06 which included 1 from Baramulla, 2 from Anantnag, 3 from Pulwama, 1 from Kathua, 3 from Udhampur, 1 from Doda and 1 from Poonch. 

SHRC has reported that among the 15 cases of custodial killing registered by it during 2006-07, 2 are from Srinagar, 1 from Budgam, 2 from Kupwara, 4 from Baramullah, 1 from Anantnag, 1 from Jammu, 1 from Udhampur, 1 from Poonch and 2 from Rajouri. The report further claims that no case of custodial killing has been reported Pulwama, Kathua and Doda. 

 SHRC has reported that it has received 54 complaints of harassment by security forces from various districts of the state during the year 2006-07. The report affirms that almost 71 percent of these complaints have been registered in Kashmir valley (37) while 17 complaints were reported from Jammu. 

Reports suggest that highest numbers of complaints of harassment have been received from Srinagar (12) followed by Jammu (10), Budgam (08), Kupwara (06), Baramullah (05), Rajouri (05), Anantnag (03), Pulwama (03), Udhampur (02) and Poonch (01). They said that no complaints were received from districts of Kathua and Doda. 

Interestingly, SHRC in its Annual Report for the year 2005-06 reported that it received 44 cases of harassment across the state which included 25 (58 percent) from Kashmir valley and 19 from Jammu province. Even in this report, Srinagar was shown to be leading the list with 11 complaints followed by Jammu (08), Doda and Kupwara (6 each), Budgam, Baramullah, Anantnag and Pulwama, Poonch (2 each) and Kathua, Udhampur, Rajouri (1 each).

 State Human Rights Commission (SHRC) has registered 366 cases of alleged human rights violation, which includes 59 cases of disappearance and 15 cases of custodial killings during the year 2006-07 across the state. The report says that the commission has registered 504 cases of disappearance and 185 cases of custodial killings since its inception in the year 1997. 

 It goes on to add that the commission has already decided 245 disappearance cases and 51 cases of custodial killing since 1997. The report adds that during the year 2006-07 being reviewed in the report, commission disposed off 460 complaints of human rights violation and made recommendations of ex-gratia relief and compassionate appointment to the state government in more than 146 cases. 

 The 460 complaints disbursed by the commission include 75 complaints of disappearance, 55 of harassment, 3 of rape and 22 of custodial killing. The report says that the commission has registered 3597 complaints related to various kinds of human rights violation since the year 1997. Taking a precautious note, commission has made no mention of total number of cases disposed off by it and recommendations made to state government since then. 

Sources maintain that the report is lying with the state government and if they are to be believed, it is likely to be tabled during last week of the ongoing budget session. Sources disclosed that this is being done to prevent uproar during the ongoing budget session over the increase in the institution of cases of disappearance and custodial killings during the year 2006-07 (128 cases) over the year 2005-06 (95 cases) across the state. 

SHRC BLAMES ARMY - SOG FOR CUSTODIAL DEATH

January 31 The State Human Rights Commission (SHRC) has held the Army and the Special Operations Group of Police responsible for the custodial murder of a man from south Kashmir’s Dooru village. In his judgement here Thursday, the SHRC chairman (acting) H U Bhat said the petitioner Ghulam Mohammad Badroo was entitled to a monetary relief of Rs two lakh for the brutal killing of his son.

Case history:

Ghulam Mohammad Badroo of Sehpora Dooru Shahabad approached the SHRC with a petition alleging that his son Sajad Ahmad Badroo was arrested by the personnel of 49-Rashtriya Rifles and the SOG during the intervening night of October 27/28, 2005.

Next day, Badroo said, Sajjad’s body was handed over after which an FIR was also lodged at the police station Dooru.

However, after examining the report of IGP and the FIR filed by the SOG constable, the SHRC observed some startling discrepancies in the two reports. It said, “The report of IGP, Kashmir dated 11.10.2007 is that Sajad Ahmad was tortured by militants and his father did not respond in fear of trouble. This report of IGP runs contrast to the FIR lodged by SOG who mentioned that Sajad had deteriorated during interrogations and succumbed to injuries.”

The judgment says “the commission is shocked to find the fantastic line of defense projected by the police that in 

terms of FIR lodged by SOG Constable in Dooru P/S on 28.10.2005 Sajad collapsed during interrogation and when he was being shifted to Khanabal Army camp he died on way.”

“Besides the report of IGP clearly is unsatisfactory and a share excuse to cover up the custodial death of Sajad,” the judgment adds.

After observing that both IGP and army personnel tried to fabricate the incidents that lead to the death of Sajad the commission observed, “This commission (came to the conclusion) that Sajad was lifted by the Army personnel of 49-RR during the night of October 27/28, 2005 and was brutalized to death after which his dead body was sent to the police station for disposal.”

“A human being is born free and has to grow to the fullest extent as is envisaged in Article first of human rights violation declaration of 1948. The concept was introduced in J&K Protection of Human Rights Act 1997. However, this concept has been rubbished away with a crude brutal force of torture by 49-RR and the members of SOG,” says the SHRC judgment.
 
The judgment states that “the commission feels that it is a conscious obligation to recommend to the government that the petitioner should also be provided benefit of SRO-43 and orders should be also issued for reinvestigating the case in terms of murder in FIR No. 147/05 v/s, 302,364 RPC P/S Anantnag (Islamabad).”

EXPLOSIONS

· JAWAN INJURED IN LANDMINE EXPLOSION

 Jammu, January 7: A soldier injured in an explosion after he accidentally stepped over a landmine near the Line of Control (LOC) in Poonch district.

Official reports said that a soldier, identified as Kevil Housee of 5 Assam Regiment, stepped over a drifting landmine while patrolling along the LOC in Mendhar area of Poonch yesterday. One of his toes was blown up in an explosion. 

He was immediately shifted to hospital for treatment, reports added.

· IED IN SOPORE 

January 11: An IED blast took place at Putoshahi on Bandipore-Sopur highway when Army vehicles were patrolling  the area. According to a police communiqué, nobody was wounded in the explosion.

· 3 BLASTS ROCK BARAMULLA

January 17: Three blasts rocked old town of Baramulla. No loss of life was reported, police said. However, unconfirmed reports said, militants fired three rifle grenades on CRPF camp of 153 Battalion. 

According to police, three blasts rocked old town of Baramulla at 8 PM. "There were three most probably grenade blasts in old town and police party has gone to the spot to ascertain facts. 

However, a civilian of the area told media that the three consecutive blasts were followed by firing of gun shots adding, "We cannot move out as troops and police are searching the area. The grenades blasts have taken place near 153 Battalion headquarters of CRPF. Police denied that it was an attack on CRPF camp. "How can we say it was an attack on CRPF camp, we have no proof," SP Jain said. 

SUICIDES BY TROOPS
· ARMY MAN COMMITS SUICIDE

January 12: An army soldier ends his life allegedly after having altercation with his colleague in the border district Rajouri.  


The deceased was identified as Sepoy Ganesh Chandrea, 23, of 52 Engineering regiment 

· SOLDIER SUCCUMBS TO INJURIES
 Jammu, January 15: A Lance Naik of army who allegedly attempted to commit suicide after firing at and wounding his two junior colleagues in Akhnoor last evening succumbed to his wounds at the Command Hospital Udhampur late last night.

‘’Lance Naik Vishesh Kumar of 510 ASC battalion, who was admitted to the Command Hospital Udhampur succumbed to his wounds in the night,’’ sources said.

The deceased had reportedly fired and wounded two of his colleagues - Sepoy Sajid Ali and Sepoy Dhananjay Kumar Yadav, before shooting himself with his INSAS Rifle.

The authorities were yet to confirm if it was an accidental discharge or a run amok case.

While condition of the wounded jawans admitted to the Military Hospital Akhnoor was said to be stable.

The deceased was shifted to the Command Hospital in critical condition June 14.

PRO Defence Lt Col S D Goswami, when contacted, said, ‘’Army has instituted a Court of Inquiry to probe the matter.’’

· TA MAN COMMITS SUICIDE
January 21: A Territorial Army (TA) man allegedly committed suicide by shooting himself dead with his official weapon at Bari Brahamana area, Jammu.


The deceased was identified as Lance Naik Vijay Kumar, 29, of 110 TA Battalion (Madras). 



An FIR was registered in Bari Brahamana police station while the army has initiated a Court of Inquiry (COI) to ascertain the cause of the suicide. 

· BSF JAWAN COMMITS SUICIDE

January 24: A Border Security Force (BSF) jawan allegedly committed suicide by shooting himself with his service weapon at Border outpost (BoP) Faqira Chak in Samba district in Jammu provision.

The deceased has been identified as Prem Massih.

 
Official reports said that Prem Massih of 112 Battalion BSF shot himself with his service weapon while performing his duties at BoP Faqira Chak in Rakh Wattali area. He was critically injured and was shifted to the hospital by his colleague where doctors pronounced him as brought dead.

 
Police has registered a case in this connection. 

· CRPF SOLDIER COMMITS SUICIDE 

January 30: A Central Reserve Police Force (CRPF) personnel of 185 BN ends his life by committing suicide by using his service rifle. 

He was identified as Sri Kumar resident of Kupwara. He was posted in a Tral camp in Pulwama. The trooper has joined the force in 1999. 

OFFICIAL STATEMENTS

· NO CUSTODIAL KILLINGS IN 2007: DGP

January 5: The Director General of Police (DGP) while speaking on current affair radio programme said that there have been no custodial killings in the state in the year 2007. 

· GOVERNOR SAYS LOWEST RIGHTS VIOLATIONS IN 2007

January 7: Addressing the joint session of the legislature on the first day of Budget Session in the Central Hall of Assembly Complex in Jammu, Governor said “The commitment of my government to the protection of human rights remains firm and unshakeable,” he said adding, “We have practically achieved the goal of zero tolerance to violation of human rights. Prompt action has been taken by the government whenever complaints were received,”

“It is heartening to know that the year 2007 has witnessed the lowest number of militancy related incidents and civilian killings,” Sinha said. 

· LEVEL OF VIOLENCE SIGNIFICANTLY DOWN: AZAD

January 7: Chief Minister Ghulam Nabi Azad has expressed satisfaction over the level of violence coming down significantly in Jammu & Kashmir during the last year.

The Chief Minister said this in a meeting of the Unified Headquarters held on the evening of January 7 evening under his chairmanship. The meeting discussed the overall security scenario in the State and officers of the security and intelligence agencies briefed the Chief Minister about the situation and the likely scenario.

The Chief Minister said that the level of violence in the State had significantly come down, adding that against 1667 incidents during 2006, the year just gone by saw 1092 incidents of violence throughout the State. He said despite sharp decline in violence the situation did not leave any scope for complacency. 

The Chief Minister highlighted his priority for upholding human rights and said in keeping with the Prime Minister’s commitment regarding zero tolerance for human rights violations, there was no scope for HR violations.

· KILLER TROOPS FACING TRIAL: CHIEF MINISTER

                ‘NO CUSTODIAL DISAPPEARANCE IN 2007’
Jammu, January 15: Maintaining that the Prime Minister’s promise of zero tolerance on human rights violation was being fulfilled, Chief Minister Ghulam Nabi Azad said that court martial proceedings have been initiated against the accused Army men who had killed two civilians in Kashmir last year. 

Azad also said that there has been decline in violence and killings in the state claiming that no custodial disappearance took place last year—first time in last 20 years.

 “Court Martial proceedings have been initiated against the Army men and officers who killed a teacher in Chowkibal and baker in Yarikhapora last year,” Azad said while addressing the Assembly. 

 Stating that the coalition government was committed to fulfill the Prime Minister’s promise of zero tolerance promise on human rights, Azad said he took up the killings by Army with the Centre. 

 “After our investigation agency told me that both the people were innocent, I immediately contacted the Defence Minister and the Chief of Army Staff. They assured me speedy investigation and found prime facie involvement of the accused troops. They have initiated court martial proceedings against them and they will be punished. We consider the cases to have reached logical conclusion” Azad said. 

 Azad said action will also be taken against the officers who did not intervene or stop the accused from killing the duo. “They too will be prosecuted,” he added. 

 Claiming that the law and order situation in the Valley in improving, Azad said no custodial disappearance took place last year. “For the first time in past 20 years, there has been zero custodial disappearance in the state. This was a major concern of masses that forces subjected the youth to custodial disappearance. Now we have checked the enforced disappearances,” Azad said. 

Similarly, Azad said custodial killings have registered decline of 32 percent compared with last year and 66 percent in last 10 years, respectively. “Violence is less by 34 percent as compared with last year,” he said. 

 The CM said the human rights violations by the police have stopped after the arrest of many policemen, including a Senior Superintendent of Police (Hans Raj Parihar) in fake encounters at Ganderbal. “Challans have been filed against the accused policemen and human rights violation by police is zero. No government has taken such action against the police officials accused of rights abuses. We won’t tolerate human rights violations,” he said. 

 To ensure that the victims of human rights violations get justice, Azad said that the State Human Rights Commission (SHRC) has been empowered. Azad said he provided a separate Inspector General of Police (IGP) to the commission for investigating the cases. 

“There was hue and cry that the SHRC recommendations are not being implemented. I formed a sub-committee and am overseeing implementation of the recommendations. Out of 630 recommendations, 391 were accepted and rest are under examination. The Commission also will impart training to the troops and cops on human rights,” the CM said.

· WE CANNOT LOWER OUR GUARD: SINHA
January 25: Governor Lt. General (Retd) S K Sinha cautioned against Security Forces lowering their guard, saying that terrorist infrastructure in POK is intact and conditions in Pakistan are most volatile, having risk of spilling over to our side.

 
In his telecast on the eve of 58th Republic Day anniversary, the Governor while greeting the people, said: 'we cannot lower our guard, whether on the borders or in the interior'.

 
General Sinha said that the ratio of deployment of troops, Army and Para Military, to population in the State, excluding militancy free Ladakh, is 1 to 40. This is less than 1 to 37 in Wazirstan in Pakistan and 1 to 28 in Tibet. He, however, added that once peace is restored in the State and infiltration from across the border ceases, the Government and the Army, will be only too happy to return the troops deployed for internal security back to barracks. In that event reduction in the strength would be considered. 

He said with their unflinched cooperation, there has been a turnaround in the situation and incidents of violence have substantially reduced. These came down from 1684 in 2006 to 1056 in 2007.The number of people who got killed came down from over 10 a day, during the peak year, to less than 2 per day. 'This considerable improvement has been possible due to the success and sacrifice of our Security Forces and the assistance of the people', the Governor said. 

· GUV SINHA PLEDGES ZERO TOLERANCE TO HR VIOLATIONS

January 26: Governor Lt. General (Retd) S K Sinha said that State Government and the Army are showing immense zero tolerance to human rights violations in Jammu and Kashmir.

Addressing the state level parade on the occasion of 59th Republic Day at M A M Stadium Jammu, the Governor said that zero tolerance against human rights violation means every effort being made to eliminate any such incident and anyone found guilty of this violation being promptly and severely punished. 

He, however, elaborated that as in civil society murder cannot be totally eliminated, so in insurgency it is difficult to totally eliminate human rights violations. 

Notwithstanding all the good work being done by the Army, he said, there are the odd black sheep, who at times tarnish the its image by committing excesses and atrocities. “Persons found guilty are being promptly and suitably punished. However, the vast majority of allegations have been found false. They reflect the constant vicious propaganda to demonize the Army,” he added. 
 “Of the 1489 allegations in 18 years, only 34 were found to be true. Disciplinary action was taken against 91 Army personnel who were dismissed and given sentences of rigorous punishment, up to 12 years,” he added. 

He further said in 2007 along with marked decrease in incidents of violence there was also marked decrease in the number of such allegations. 

 “Only 3 out of the 9 allegations made were found true after inquiry. The guilty are being court-martialed. Disciplinary action is also being taken against their immediate superiors, for lack of adequate supervision. Similarly, in the case of Policemen, those found guilty are being severely dealt with. In a bad case of excesses committed by some policemen, a senior SP, a DSP and twelve Policemen are in custody and are being prosecuted in a court of law.”

· SITUATION IMPROVING: IG CRPF

Srinagar, Jan 26: The overall security situation in the Kashmir valley has improved considerably, Inspector General of CRPF Sunil Kumar Jain said.

He said that the incidents of militancy related violence have come down and there has been considerable improvement in the overall situation.

In an informal chat with the reporters after unfurling the tri-colour at historic Lal Chowk here, Jain said the improvement in the situation was achieved mainly because of full cooperation from the common people and the sacrifices made by the security personnel.

He said that situation will further improve.

A large number of security personnel were also present at Lal chowk, which was sealed from all sides with sharp shooters keeping a close watch from the high-rise buildings.

· TARIGAMI CALLS FOR SETTING UP OF COMMITTEE TO PROBE DISAPPEARANCE CASES

Jammu, January 28: Demanding that government should either constitute a commission or set up a committee in order to trace the whereabouts of disappeared persons, CPI (M) state secretary Muhammad Yusuf Tarigami said that it would mitigate the sufferings of the relatives of disappeared persons. Taking part in the discussion on demand for grants in the assembly, Tarigami said that fate of the disappeared persons is not known to anybody especially their relatives. He said that the need of the hour is that government should rise to the occasion and do the needful in this respect.

"Let the government come out with facts and figures about the people who have been subjected to enforced or custodial disappearances. This would settle the nerves of the relatives of the disappeared persons and hopefully their sufferings would be mitigated. There is a need to constitute a commission or set up a committee so that the real things come out," said the CPI (M) state secretary.

Tarigami said that people do not know about the fate of the persons who have disappeared and time has come when the government should act. He added that the relatives of these persons are moving from pillar to post and their problems need to be addressed without further delay.

· 'RAISE MORE POLICE BATTALION TO ADDRESS UNEMPLOYMENT

 Jammu, January 28:  Abdul Gaffar Sofi emphasized on creating additional battalions in the police department for addressing the unemployment problems and helping curb the militancy. 

 
While participating in the discussion on demands for grants for the year 2008-09 moved by the Chief Minister Ghulam Nabi Azad in Legislative Assembly, he stressed to provide more accommodation to the police personnel and sought improvement in the condition in the prisons. Sofi 

· KULGAM FREE OF MILITANCY: IGP

January 30: Inspector General of Police (IGP) Sahai claimed that Kulgam area is almost free of militancy after an encounter in which 4 Hizbul Mujahideen (HM) militants were killed. 


Replying to a question posed by media men, the IGP said, “local militants are less active now and if police continues with the present success operations against the militants we may see end of militancy very shortly.”
KILLINGS IN THE MONTH OF JANUARY

	Date
	Soldiers
	Militants
	Civilians
	Others

	Jan 01
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Jan 02
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Jan 03
	-
	-
	1
	-

	Jan 04
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Jan 05
	-
	1
	-
	-

	Jan 06
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Jan 07
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Jan 08
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Jan 09
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Jan 10
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Jan 11
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Jan 12
	1
	3
	
	

	Jan 13
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Jan 14
	-
	1
	-
	-

	Jan 15
	1
	3
	-
	-

	Jan 16
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Jan 17
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Jan 18
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Jan 19
	-
	-
	1
	-

	Jan 20
	-
	1
	-
	-

	Jan 21
	2
	6
	-
	-

	Jan 22
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Jan 23
	2
	1
	-
	-

	Jan 24
	1
	-
	-
	-

	Jan 25
	-
	1
	-
	-

	Jan 26
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Jan 27
	2
	2
	-
	-

	Jan 28
	-
	-
	1
	-

	Jan 29
	-
	-
	1
	-

	Jan 30
	1
	4
	-
	-

	Jan 31
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Total 
	10
	23
	4
	0

	                                                              In Toto
	37




CHRONOLOGY OF INCIDENTS

Jan 1: A mentally challenged person injured in a blast in a forest area at Nagadandi, Ananatnag in south Kashmir.

Jan 2: Three persons including a paramilitary BSF trooper were wounded in a grenade explosion at Gulshan Chowk. While unidentified gunmen abducted Afrooza daughter of Abdus Salaam of Kaw Bagh Nuner Ganderbal from her home, the police said.

Jan 3: Dead body of carpet weaver Bashir Ahmad Rather s/o Ghulam Rasool Rather of Braripora, Shopian was recovered from Braripora.

Jan 4: Two encounters were reported from Kupwara and Amshipora, Shopian area but no causality was reported. One LeT militant was found dead in the outskirts of the village Niram in the Gool. The deceased was identified by the police as Nisar alias Abu Juban. 

Jan 5: A CRPF trooper head constable Poshker Singh of C. Coy 25 BN CRPF camped at Bakshi Stadium Srinagar was injured in accidental fire from his own service rifle. Militants attacked a patrolling part of troops in Kistiwar, however, no causality was reported. 

Jan 6: No incident of violence reported. 

Jan 7: An army jawan injured in an explosion after he accidentally stepped over a landmine near the Line of Control (LOC) in Poonch district.

Jan 8: No incident of violence reported from ay pat of the state. 

Jan 9: Suspected militant lobbed a hand grenade on CRPF patrol party in Sopore caused injuries to two troopers. 

Jan 10: No incident of violence reported from any part of the valley. 

Jan 11: No incident of violence reported from any part of the valley.

Jan 12: Troops claimed that it had killed three militants in separate encounters in Doda district. The slain militants were identified as Altaf Hussain s/o Nazir Ahmad of Dhara Mathod, Irshad Ahmad Mir of LeT militants outfit. In another encounter a militant namely, Farooq Ahmad code Abu Mumazil s/o Mohammad Rmzan Bhat. While an army soldier ends his life allegedly after having altercation with his colleague in the border district Rajouri.  The deceased was identified as Sepoy Ganesh Chandrea, 23, of 52 Engineering regiment

Jan 13: No incident of violence reported from any part of the valley.

Jan 14: One militant was killed in Doda district during an encounter. The deceased was identified as Altaf Hussain s/o Ahmad Sheikh of Poots, Dhara, Doda. 

Jan 15: Three militants including a district commander of Lashkar-e-Toiba were killed in separate encounters with troops in Bandipore and Doda, The militants killed in Doda were identified as, identified as Nazir Ahmad Lone and Abdul Rashid Lone belonged to the LeT outfit. A Lance Naik of army who allegedly attempted to commit suicide after firing at and wounding his two junior colleagues in Akhnoor last evening succumbed to his wounds at the Command Hospital Udhampur

Jan 16: No incident of violence reported from any part of the valley.

Jan 17:  No incident of violence reported from any part of the valley.

Jan 18:: No incident of violence reported from any part of the valley.

Jan 19: Dead body of one Bashir Ahmad Khatana of Dazna-Dangiwachi was recovered by the police in higher reaches of Muldari top Panzala. The deceased was shot dead. In another incident a youth was injured when the CRPF personnel opened fire upon protestors in Chursoo in Awantipora. 

Jan 20: One militant of LeT was killed and two troopers were injured, police in Mandigam village of Langate Handwara in district Kupwara.

Jan 21: Six militants of LeT and Special Operation Group cop were killed in three different militancy related incidents. A Territorial Army (TA) man allegedly committed suicide by shooting himself dead with his official weapon at Bari Brahamana area, Jammu.  

Jan 22:  No incident of violence reported from any part of the valley.

Jan 23: Two army personnel and a militant were killed in an encounter with troops Sunderbani area of Rajouri in Jammu provision. 

Jan 24: Border Security Force (BSF) trooper allegedly committed suicide by shooting himself with his service weapon at Border out Post (BoP) Faqira Chak in Samba district in Jammu provision.

The deceased has been identified as Prem Massih.

Jan 25: One militants of HUJI were killed in an encounter with troops in Kistiwar district

Jan 26: No incident of violence reported.  

Jan 27: Two army jawans and two militants were killed and six security personnel had sustained injuries in Rajouri Jammu.

Jan 28: Unidentified gunmen, believed to be militants, have kidnapped and subsequently shot dead a civilian in Handwara area in north Kashmir.
Jan 29: Unknown gunmen shot dead One Reyaz Ahmad Lone at Badreh Payeen at Handwara. The reason of the killing was not know. 

Jan 30: Army and police claimed to have killed four militants of Hizbul Mujahideen (HM) including its district commander at Batpora-Malikpora in Kulgam. Three of the slain was identified as Sajad Ahmed Bhatt alias Tahir of Batpora, Farooq Ahmed War of Arwini, Firdous Wani, alias Waqar, of Tangdun. A Central Reserve Police Force (CRPF) personnel of 185 BN ends his life by committing suicide by using his service rifle. He was identified as Sri Kumar resident of Kupwara.

Jan 31: No incident of violence reported from any part of the state.


� EMBED MSPhotoEd.3  ���





The Chief Minister, Ghulam Nabi Azad has gone on record on more than one occasion, assuring that Kashmiris working or studying in different states of India – rough estimates put their number around 200,000- would enjoy a hassle free life.   


The former Chief Minster, Mufti Mohammad Sayed had too, during his tenure, promised the safety of Kashmiris in other stated of India. 
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